FILED

MARCH 23, 2015

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

No. 32824-4-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CARL MATHENY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR BENTON COUNTY

The Honorable Robert G. Swisher

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred in admitting prejudicial prior act evidence under ER 404(b).

2. The trial court erred in failing to balance the probative value of the disputed evidence against its prejudicial effect.

3. The trial court failed to find on the record that Mr. Matheny had the ability to pay the Legal Financial Obligations (LFOs).

4. Court's Instruction 9, placing the burden on Mr. Matheny to prove unwitting possession, violated his right to due process.

5. In refusing to impose a Drug Offender Sentence Alternative (DOSA), the trial court penalized Mr. Matheny for exercising his constitutionally protected right to trial.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Prior acts of a defendant are not admissible simply to prove he acted in conformity with a particular character trait. Prior acts may be admissible if relevant and they fall within one of the designated exceptions enumerated in ER 404(b). Here, in a possession of methamphetamine prosecution, the trial court admitted evidence that Viagra powder was discovered in the rear seat of the police car in which Mr. Matheny had ridden without identifying the purpose for

which the evidence was admitted and without balancing the probative value of the evidence against its prejudice. Must this Court reverse Mr. Matheny's convictions where the evidence of the Viagra was improper propensity evidence used solely to prove Mr. Matheny possessed controlled substances, and the trial court's error was not harmless where the overwhelming prejudice of this evidence outweighed any limited probative value?

2. A court may impose discretionary LFOs only after making an individualized assessment of the defendant's financial situation and determining his ability to pay. This finding must be made on the record. The court here imposed over \$2900 in discretionary LFOs without making any finding regarding Mr. Matheny or his ability to pay. Is Mr. Matheny entitled to reversal of his sentence and remand for a new sentencing hearing where the court will be required to make the necessary findings?

3. The trial court may place the burden on the defendant of proving a defense that negates an element of the offense without offending due process. Unwitting possession negates the element of knowledge in a possession of a controlled substance prosecution, yet the court placed the burden of proving unwitting possession on Mr.

Matheny. Did the trial court violate due process in impermissibly shifting the burden onto Mr. Matheny?

4. A court may not impose an enhanced sentence based upon the defendant's exercise of his constitutionally protected right to trial. The court here refused to impose a DOSA and instead, imposed a sentence at the high end of the standard range based upon Mr. Matheny's exercise of his right to trial. Is Mr. Matheny entitled to resentencing?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The police conducted a traffic stop of Carl Matheny after he committed a traffic violation. RP 30-31. Mr. Matheny was arrested for Driving While License Suspended (DWLS). RP 31. Mr. Matheny was transported to jail, where upon his removal from the police car, the police found white powder on the seat and a similar residue on Mr. Matheny's fingers. RP 33-34. This substance was tested and determined to be Viagra. RP 74.

While searching Mr. Matheny incident to arrest, the police found a pen with methamphetamine residue inside. RP 31. Mr. Matheny was charged with possession of methamphetamine, driving while license suspended in the second degree, and possession of a dangerous weapon (butterfly knife). CP 6-8. Prior to trial, Mr. Matheny

moved the trial court to prohibit the State from eliciting any evidence of the Viagra powder found in the rear of the police car. RP 10-12, 25-26. The State argued that the evidence “shows some knowledge by the defendant of his culpability either for the driving while suspended or possibly possession of some drug.” RP 13. The trial court denied Mr. Matheny’s motion and allowed the evidence of the white powder to be admitted without identifying the purpose for which it was admitted or balancing the probative value against the prejudice. RP 26 (“Okay. Well, it was tested, so we’ll let it in.”).

At trial, Deputy Schwarder testified about finding the powder:

Q: What I really want to talk about next is you had the defendant in your patrol car. What happened then?

A: I transported him to the Benton County Jail. During my transport with him, he had made a comment to me that he was a fireman. That he didn’t need any additional charges. That he wanted, you know, these charges to go away.

And when I arrived, I got him out of the car, and I noticed the – white residue on the back – in the backseat of the patrol car where he was sitting.

Q: Okay. Let me show you what we’ve got marked as Identification No. 3. Can you tell us what this is?

A: This is a picture of the backseat of my patrol car. It shows a residue at the very kind of back corner where your hands would be at if you were handcuffed and in a seated position.

...

Q: So can you tell the jurors absolutely positively whether your patrol car had this white stuff in it?

A: Yeah. I – I am very meticulous about my patrol car, but one of the things that we do at the beginning of our shift is we check our backseats. We check under the area where the feet would be just to ensure that nobody has been put – or that there's no contraband or anything that's in that car. And that's checked after each prisoner has been in the vehicle.

Q: If you recall, do you recall if the defendant was the first person that you transported that night?

A: He was.

Q: He was? Okay.
After seeing this, did you notice anything out of the ordinary with respect to the defendant himself?

A: I did. I noticed that he had similar residue on his fingers.

RP 34-35.

During his rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor talked about the discovery of the Viagra in the back of the police car:

Now, concerning that, let me talk about a few things the defendant talked about, the defense attorney. This Viagra was on the seat. Weird, weird deal. You know, we hadn't really talked about what was going on there, but I would argue to you the one thing that you can conclude by the fact the defendant has his hands behind him, Corporal Schwarder hadn't transported anybody, made sure his car was clean, and when he gets to the station, all this residue is there, and it turns out it's Viagra. Okay. You know, weird, weird deal. Strange deal.

But the one thing you can conclude is that the defendant was secreting something on his person. That's the one thing we know. And he was trying to hide things. That's – you know, who knows why he didn't just come clean about that and say, "You know, I've got some Viagra on me," instead of trying to crush it up and make some secret about it. But that's what he did. That's what he did with respect to Viagra. He couldn't crush it up like he could with a pill. But he's definitely trying to secrete things on his person. That's the importance of the Viagra.

RP 133-34.

The trial court instructed the jury in Court's Instruction 9 on unwitting possession:

A person is not guilty of possession of a controlled substance if the possession is unwitting. Possession of a controlled substance is unwitting if a person did not know that the substance was in his possession or did not know the nature of the substance.

The burden is on the defendant to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the substance was possessed unwittingly. Preponderance of the evidence means that you must be persuaded considering all of the evidence in the case that it is more probably true than not true.

CP 21; RP 104.

At the conclusion of the jury trial, Mr. Matheny was found guilty as charged. RP 141-42. At sentencing, the court rejected Mr.

Matheny's request for a DOSA despite a determination that he was eligible for a DOSA. RP 152. In refusing the DOSA, the court stated:

You know, Mr. Matheny is a valuable person in the community; for instance, I didn't know he was a mechanic. It did come up during trial that he was a firefighter, and that provides a valuable service to the community. But it's obvious he's got a drug problem. You didn't have to send him for an evaluation to know that. You look at his criminal history. Terrible criminal history.

But here's the situation. I don't think he's ready for treatment. He doesn't want treatment. He came into court and said, "It wasn't my fault. It wasn't my drugs." Remember? "I saved the children in the home because I picked up the pen that had drugs in it and saved the children that way. It wasn't my drugs."

You know, he hasn't accepted the fact that he's got a drug problem, and he obviously does. *If – if he had come in here from the beginning and said, "I've got a drug problem," we'll deal with it then. We'll deal with it then. But he's come in and said, "Not me. Not my drug problem."*

RP 162-63 (emphasis added). The court sentenced Mr. Matheny at the high end of the standard range sentence of 24 months in custody on the possession of methamphetamine count and 364 days on the remaining two misdemeanor counts. CP 110; RP 164.

In addition, the court imposed \$3,570 in LFOs of which only \$600 were mandatory fees, without making an inquiry into Mr. Matheny's financial situation and without making an on the record

finding that he had the present or future ability to pay. CP 108-10; RP 163-64.

D. ARGUMENT

1. **The Evidence of the Viagra Powder Admitted Pursuant To ER 404(B) Proved Nothing More Than Mr. Matheny Acted In Conformity With A Character Trait Which Violated His Right To A Fair Trial**

- a. *The admission of other acts evidence violates the due process right to a fair trial.*

Erroneous evidentiary rulings violate due process by depriving the defendant of a fundamentally fair trial. U.S. Const. amend. XIV; *Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62, 112 S.Ct. 475, 116 L.Ed.2d 385 (1991); *Pulley v. Harris*, 465 U.S. 37, 41, 104 S.Ct. 871, 79 L.Ed.2d 29 (1984). Generally, the mere failure to comply with state evidentiary rules does not violate due process. *Jammal v. Van de Kamp*, 926 F.2d 918, 919-20 (9th Cir. 1991). But, mere compliance with state evidentiary and procedural rules does not *guarantee* compliance with the requirements of due process. *Id.*, citing *Perry v. Rushen*, 713 F.2d 1447, 1453 (9th Cir. 1983), *cert. denied*, 469 U.S. 838 (1984). Due process *is* violated where the admission of evidence was arbitrary or so prejudicial that it rendered the trial fundamentally unfair. *Walters v.*

Maass, 45 F.3d 1355, 1357 (9th Cir. 1995); *Colley v. Sumner*, 784 F.2d 984, 990 (9th Cir. 1986).

b. *Evidence of a person's prior actions cannot be admitted to prove he acted in conformity with that trait.*

ER 404(b) prohibits the use of evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.¹ ER 404(b) was designed “to prevent the State from suggesting that a defendant is guilty because he or she is a criminal-type person who would be likely to commit the crime charged.” *State v. Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d 168, 175, 163 P.3d 786 (2007). ER 404(b) is intended to prevent application by jurors of the common assumption “that ‘since he did it once, he did it again.’” *State v. Bacotgarcia*, 59 Wn.App. 815, 822, 801 P.2d 993 (1990), *review denied*, 116 Wn.2d 1020 (1991). “This prohibition encompasses not only prior bad acts and unpopular behavior but *any* evidence offered to ‘show the character of a person to prove the person acted in conformity’ with that character at the time of a crime.” *Foxhoven*, 161 Wn.2d at 175 (emphasis in original). This rule is “not designed ‘to

¹ “Evidence of a person’s character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion.” ER 404(a).

deprive the State of relevant evidence necessary to establish an essential element of its case,' but rather to prevent the State from suggesting that a defendant is guilty because he or she is a criminal-type person who would be likely to commit the crime charged." *Id.* "In no case . . . may the evidence be admitted to prove the character of the accused in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith." *State v. Saltarelli*, 98 Wn.2d 358, 362, 655 P.2d 697 (1982).

Prior act evidence may be admissible for other purposes, depending on its relevance and the balancing of the probative value and danger of unfair prejudice. *State v. Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d 405, 420, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). ER 404(b) includes a nonexclusive list of permissible purposes for admitting evidence of a person's other bad acts.²

However, the law resists criminal convictions based upon the jury's view that the defendant is a bad person or has a history of bad conduct. Therefore, the trial court must begin with the presumption that evidence of prior misconduct is inadmissible. *State v. DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 P.3d 119 (2003). When demonstrated, such evidence

² "Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." ER 404(b).

may be admissible for purposes “such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.”” *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995), quoting ER 404(b). Before the trial court admits evidence of prior misconduct under ER 404(b), it must (1) find by a preponderance of the evidence that the prior misconduct occurred, (2) identify the purpose for admitting the evidence, (3) determine the relevance of the evidence to prove an element of the crime, and (4) weigh the probative value of the evidence against its prejudicial effect. *State v. Fisher*, 165 Wn.2d 727, 745, 202 P.3d 937 (2009); *DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d at 17. The latter factor inserts an ER 403 examination into an ER 404(b) analysis. “Unfair prejudice” is caused by evidence that is likely to arouse an emotional response rather than promote a rational decision. *State v. Rice*, 48 Wn.App. 7, 13, 737 P.2d 726 (1987).

The burden of demonstrating a proper purpose for admitting evidence of a person’s prior bad acts is on the proponent of the evidence. *DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d at 17. The court must conduct this analysis on the record. *State v. Sublett*, 156 Wn.App. 160, 195, 231 P.3d 231 (2010), *aff’d*, 176 Wn.2d 58 (2012).

Appellate courts review a trial court's evidentiary rulings for an abuse of discretion. "A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons; i.e., if the court relies on unsupported facts, takes a view that no reasonable person would take, applies the wrong legal standard, or bases its ruling on an erroneous view of the law." *State v. Hudson*, 150 Wn.App. 646, 652, 208 P.3d 1236 (2009). In close cases "the scale should be tipped in favor of the defendant." *State v. Smith*, 106 Wn.2d 772, 776, 725 P.2d 951 (1986), quoting *State v. Bennett*, 36 Wn.App. 176, 180, 672 P.2d 772 (1983).

The question to be answered in applying ER 404(b) is not whether a defendant's prior bad acts are logically relevant; they are. Evidence that a criminal defendant is a "criminal type" is always relevant. But ER 404(b) reflects the long-standing policy to exclude most character evidence because

it is said to weigh too much with the jury and to so overpersuade them. . . . The overriding policy of excluding such evidence, despite its admitted probative value, is the practical experience that its disallowance tends to prevent confusion of issues, unfair surprise and undue prejudice."

Michelson v. United States, 335 U.S. 469, 476, 69 S.Ct. 213, 93 L.Ed. 168 (1948).

Thus, the question to be answered in applying ER 404(b) is whether the evidence of the Viagra was relevant for a purpose other than showing Mr. Matheny's propensity.

c. *The court failed to conduct the required balancing of probative value against its prejudicial effect.*

The balancing of the probative value of the disputed evidence against its prejudicial effect must be conducted on the record and doubtful cases must be resolved in favor of the defendant. *Smith*, 106 Wn.2d at 776. Without such balancing and a conscious determination made by the court on the record, the evidence is not properly admitted." *State v. Tharp*, 96 Wn.2d 591, 597, 637 P.2d 961 (1981). A trial court errs by not fully articulating its balancing process in admitting ER 404(b) evidence. *State v. Carleton*, 82 Wn.App. 680, 685-86, 919 P.2d 128 (1996). The absence of a record of the weighing of the probative versus prejudicial effect precludes effective appellate review. *State v. Jones*, 101 Wn.2d 113, 677 P.2d 131 (1984). Where the trial court has not balanced probative value versus prejudice on the record, the error is harmless unless the failure to do the balancing, "within reasonable probability, materially affected the outcome of the trial." *State v. Halstien*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 127, 857 P.2d 270 (1993), *citing Tharp*, 96

Wn.2d at 599. *See also Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc.*, 164 Wn.2d 432, 446, 191 P.3d 879 (2008).

Here, the trial court admitted the evidence of the Viagra powder over Mr. Matheny's's objection. RP 9-11, 24-26. The court failed to identify the purpose for which the evidence was being admitted, and failed to weigh the probative value of the Viagra powder against its prejudicial effect, despite Mr. Matheny's argument that admission of this evidence was unduly prejudicial. Further, the court failed to instruct the jury that the evidence could only be used for a limited purpose.

d. *The evidence of the Viagra was not relevant to Mr. Matheny's knowledge.*

While the trial court did not state a basis for the admittance of the Viagra, the prosecutor in closing argument argued it was relevant to Mr. Matheny's knowledge of the methamphetamine. RP 133-34. This was clearly an improper basis for admitting the Viagra evidence.

This Court's decision in *State v. Pogue* is instructive. 104 Wn.App. 981, 17 P.3d 1272 (2001). Pogue was charged with unlawful possession of cocaine, which police had found in a vehicle he was driving. *Pogue*, 104 Wn.App. at 982-83. Pogue argued unwitting possession because the car belonged to his sister and claimed that the

police planted the drugs in the car. 104 Wn.App. at 983-84. The trial court admitted evidence of an earlier conviction for delivery of cocaine under ER 404(b) and reasoned that Pogue's assertion of unwitting possession raised the knowledge issue, and therefore the prior conviction was admissible to show that Pogue had knowledge about cocaine. 104 Wn.App. at 984-85. On appeal, the court reversed because Pogue never argued that he did not know the substance in the bag was an illegal drug, he argued he did not even know the bag was in the car. 104 Wn.App. at 985. In that situation, the court ruled the evidence had no relevance apart from propensity: "because he knowingly possessed cocaine in the past, it is more likely that he knowingly possessed it on the day of the charged incident." *Pogue*, 104 Wn.App. at 985.

Here, Mr. Matheny was in the same situation as the defendant in *Pogue*. Mr. Matheny did not argue he did not know what the substance was in the pen, he argued he was unaware there was any substance in the pen. RP 80-81, 88-89. As a consequence, following *Pogue*, the evidence of the Viagra powder had no relevance other than propensity, and for that reason, the court erred in admitting evidence of the Viagra powder.

e. *The evidence of the Viagra was not res gestae evidence.*

The trial court failed to clearly state the basis for the admission of the Viagra evidence. Perhaps one could argue it constituted *res gestae* evidence.

Under the *res gestae* exception to ER 404(b), admission of evidence of other crimes or bad acts is allowed to complete the story of a crime or to provide the context for events close in time and place. *Powell*, 126 Wn.2d at 254. *Res gestae* permits a trial court to admit misconduct that would otherwise be inadmissible when that misconduct is connected in time, place, circumstances, or means employed and constitutes proof of the history of the crime charged. *State v. Lillard*, 112 Wn.App. 422, 432, 93 P.3d 969 (2004) (evidence of other crimes or bad acts are admissible to complete the story of a crime or to provide the immediate context for events close in both time and place to the charged crime).

The decision in *State v. Trickler*, 106 Wn.App. 727, 25 P.3d 445 (2001), is almost identical to Mr. Matheny's matter and must control the outcome. In *Trickler*, officers searched the defendant's room for evidence of property stolen from Thomas Wiley and discovered personal property belonging to Mr. Wiley, as well as a credit card

bearing the name “Kathleen D. Nunez” and a firearm. 106 Wn.App. at 730. The defendant was charged with unlawful possession of a firearm and possession of a stolen credit card belonging to Ms. Nunez. *Id.* at 733. At trial, the State introduced evidence of property stolen from Mr. Wiley, as well as unrelated stolen checkbooks and credit cards that were found in the defendant’s possession on a *res gestae* theory. *Id.* On appeal, the court, noted that

the events leading up to the discovery of the stolen credit card were relevant and somewhat probative, it was not shown that Mr. Trickler’s possession of other allegedly stolen items was an inseparable part of his possession of the stolen credit card, which is the test commonly used in this state.

Id. at 734. The Court went on to hold that the evidence was improperly admitted:

ER 404(b) is meant to prohibit the State from attempting to use evidence of bad acts in order to prove the propensity of the defendant to commit the same type of bad act. In theory, the State probably introduced evidence of the allegedly stolen evidence [sic] (for which Mr. Trickler was not charged) in order to give the jury a complete picture of the events leading to the discovery of the stolen credit card. In practice, however, by allowing the jury to consider evidence that Mr. Trickler was in possession of a plethora of other allegedly stolen items in order for the State to prove that Mr. Trickler must have known that the credit card was also stolen, the court violated the purpose of ER 404(b). After hearing the witnesses’ testimony and seeing evidence of 16 pieces of

stolen property, the jury was left to conclude that Mr. Trickler is a thief.

Id. at 734.

So too here, admission of the Viagra was not admissible pursuant to the *res gestae* doctrine. Mr. Matheny was not on trial for possession of the Viagra; he was being prosecuted for a specific controlled substance; methamphetamine. Further, as the *Trickler* court noted, the State failed to show the possession of the Viagra was “an inseparable part” of Mr. Matheny’s possession of the methamphetamine. *Id.* The Viagra powder was not admissible as *res gestae* evidence.

f. *The error in admitting the evidence of the Viagra powder was prejudicial.*

When a court erroneously admits prior bad acts evidence under ER 404(b), reversal is required where, “within reasonable probability, materially affected the outcome of the trial.” *Gresham*, 173 Wn.2d at 433.

Here the prosecutor used the Viagra evidence for its improper purpose, arguing in closing argument Mr. Matheny’s possession of the Viagra showed he necessarily possessed the methamphetamine. RP 133-34. This argument used the Viagra powder for its improper

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