FILED

MAY 15, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 32824-4-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

CARL K. MATHENY, Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR BENTON COUNTY

NO. 14-1-00203-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

Laurel J. Holland, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney BAR NO. 40228 OFFICE ID 91004

Terry J. Bloor, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney BAR NO. 9044 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-3591

II. ARGUMENT

A. State's Response to Defendant's Argument Number One: "The evidence of the Viagra Powder Admitted Pursuant To ER 404(b) Proved Nothing More Than Mr. Matheny Acted In Conformity With A Character Trait Which Violated His Right To A Fair Trial."

1. The defendant must show that the trial court's evidentiary ruling was an abuse of discretion.

The standard on review for evidentiary ruling is abuse of discretion. *State v. Lane*, 125 Wn.2d 825, 889 P.2d 929 (1995). The State suggests that not only has the defendant not met this burden, but that the Viagra powder was properly admitted.

2. The defendant's attempt to secret Viagra powder is not character evidence under ER 404(b), but circumstantial evidence of his knowledge that he was in possession of drugs and wanted to hide that fact; this Court need not review the defendant's argument on appeal because he did not make an ER 404(b) objection at trial.

The defendant attempted to secret a controlled substance, Viagra, after his contact with the police. This is circumstantial evidence that he knew he was in possession of a controlled substance and wanted to hide that fact. The defendant was able to crush the Viagra tablets while in the patrol car while handcuffed; he could not do the same with the methamphetamine because it was in a pen which the police found during a pat-down search. This shows the lengths the defendant was willing to go to destroy evidence. It also could be the reason the defendant was immediately stating that he would go to jail after he was stopped.

The defendant's attempt to conceal a controlled substance while being arrested does not involve character evidence under ER 404(b). A similar case is *State v. Johnson*, 159 Wn. App. 766, 247 P.3d 11 (2011), in

which the defendant was charged with Burglary for entering a building with the intent to steal copper wire. The trial court admitted a receipt he was carrying showing that he sold 105 pounds of copper the day before to a recycler. The *Johnson* Court disagreed with the defendant's characterization of the receipt as a prior bad act, and said the receipt was circumstantial evidence of the defendant's motive and intent. *Johnson*, 159 Wn. App. at 772-73.

The defendant's objection to admission of the Viagra powder was based on relevancy. RP at 26. The defendant first argued that the powder had not been tested and therefore should not be admitted "because the State has no evidence to be able to establish what it is." RP at 10. After finding out that Forensic Scientist Jason Trigg did test it, the defendant then argued that the Viagra should not be admitted because it may be confused with methamphetamine. RP at 25.

Because the defendant did not object to the evidence of the Viagra powder under ER 404(b), it is unfair for him on appeal to argue that the trial court did not conduct the balancing test required under that rule. *See* App. Brief at 13-14. Indeed, this Court should not review an argument based on one rule of evidence when the objection at trial was made on the basis of a different rule of evidence. *State v. Mak*, 105 Wn.2d 692, 718 P.2d 407 (1986). As stated in *State v. Ferguson*, 100 Wn.2d 131, 138, 667

P.2d 68 (1983) (quoting 5 K. Tegland, Wash.Prac., *Evidence* § 10, at 25 (2d ed. 1982)): "[i]f a specific objection is overruled and the evidence in question is admitted, the appellate court will not reverse on the basis that the evidence should have been excluded under a different rule which could have been, but was not, argued at trial."

Here, the key fact is not that the defendant had another controlled substance on his person; it was that he was attempting to destroy it. That is a distinction between this case and *State v. Pogue*, 104 Wn. App. 981, 17 P.3d 1272 (2001), which the defendant relies on. In *Pogue*, the defendant claimed he did not know a bag containing cocaine was in his sister's car, which he was driving after dropping her off at work. *Pogue*, 104 Wn. App. at 982-83. Mr. Pogue's prior convictions for delivery of cocaine were not admissible to rebut his claim of unwitting possession. *Id.* at 987-88. In the instant case, the fact that the defendant had another controlled substance is not important; his attempt to destroy it is circumstantial evidence that he knew he had it on his person.

3. In any event, the evidence concerning the Viagra powder was harmless.

The defendant was never asked about the powder, either on direct or cross-examination. It was not mentioned in the Opening Statements. Forensic Scientist Jason Trigg spoke a total of five lines in the transcript

about his test on the powder. RP at 74. In Closing Arguments, the sum total of the comments about Viagra was in the deputy prosecutor's rebuttal and amounted to about one page, from RP 133 to 134. The prosecutor stated that the defendant was trying to secret one controlled substance by crushing it, but that he could not crush the pen which contained the methamphetamine. RP at 134.

The defendant was found guilty because he had methamphetamine on his person, he admitted knowing that the pen containing methamphetamine was used to ingest controlled substances, he admitted picking up that pen and his explanation for his possession of the pen was not credible. The defendant's attempt to hide another controlled substance from the police was one addition to these facts.

- B. State's Response to Defendant's Argument Number Two: "The trial court erred in imposing court costs and attorney's fees without making a finding regarding Mr. Matheny's inability to pay."
 - 1. This is not properly before the Court because the defendant did not object to the legal financial obligations.

A defendant who makes no objection to the imposition of discretionary LFOs at sentencing is not automatically entitled to review.

State v. Blazina, _____ Wn.2d _____, 344 P.3d 680 (2015). The defendant never claimed that he was unable to make any payment. He did request

that the fine for Possession of a Controlled Substance be lowered. RP at 163-64. But, he did not claim any inability to make the payments.

2. The defendant testified about his work as a firefighter, repeated it at sentencing, and the trial court did not need to ask additional questions concerning his ability to pay LFOs.

At trial, the defendant discussed his ability to work, saying he had been employed as a firefighter for four years. RP at 85. At sentencing, his attorney also stated that the defendant had done work as a smoke jumper and said that he had worked as a mechanic. RP at 158. The defendant also stated that he missed working and wanted to resume his employment with the forest service. RP at 162.

This satisfies the trial court's obligation to make an individualized determination of a defendant's ability to pay LFOs.

- C. State's Response to Defendant's Argument Number Three: "Placing the burden of proving unwitting possession on Mr. Matheny violated his right to due process which requires the State to prove all elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt."
 - 1. Standard on Review: Under the principle of stare decisis, a prior decision should only be overruled upon a clear showing that the rule it announced is incorrect and harmful.

While rules of statutory construction and constitutional issues are reviewed de novo, *City of Redmond v. Moore*, 151 Wn.2d 664, 668, 91 P.3d 875 (2004), the defendant is requesting this Court to overrule the

decisions in *State v. Bradshaw*, 152 Wn.2d 528, 98 P.3d 1190 (2004) and *State v. Cleppe*, 96 Wn.2d 373, 635 P.2d 435 (1981). Those cases should only be overruled if there is a clear showing that the rule they announced – the defendant has the burden of proving unwitting possession – is incorrect and harmful. *State v. Barber*, 170 Wn.2d 854, 863-65, 248 P.3d 494 (2011).

2. The case of *State v. W.R., Jr.*, 181 Wn.2d 757, 336 P.3d 1134 (2014) does not require *Bradshaw* and *Cleppe* to be overruled.

The Court in *W.R.*, *Jr.* found that it was a due process violation to require a defendant in a rape case the sexual intercourse was consensual. *W.R.*, *Jr.*, 181 Wn.2d at 769. The Court held that when the defendant raises that issue, it is actually a challenge to the element of forcible compulsion. *Id.* at 763. Requiring the defendant to prove the intercourse was consensual is the equivalent of requiring him or her to disprove the intercourse was by forcible compulsion.

The Court in *W.R.*, *Jr.* held that the State is not required "to disprove every possible fact that would mitigate or excuse the defendant's culpability." *Id.* at 762. The legislature does not violate a defendant's due process rights when it allocates to the defendant the burden of proving an affirmative defense when the defense merely excuses conduct that would otherwise be punishable. *Id.*

The *Bradshaw* case outlines the history of the legislature's adoption of the Uniform Controlled Substances Act, RCW 69.50, discusses the legislature's deletion of "knowingly and intentionally" language from the Uniform Act for the State charge of Possession of a Controlled Substance, determines that knowledge is not an element of Possession of a Controlled Substance and that it is appropriate for a defendant to prove unwitting possession. *Bradshaw*, 152 Wn.2d 528. The *Bradshaw* Court noted that in the 22 years since the *Cleppe* case was decided, the legislature has had the opportunity to amend the statute, but has not added a mens rea element. *Id.* at 533. This continues to be the clear statutory intent.

3. If this Court is considering changing the law concerning unwitting possession, this is not a good case to do so because the defendant did not object to the instructions and the evidence of the defendant's guilt is very strong.

The defendant had no objections to the jury instructions. RP at 97. The Court gave the suggested WPIC instruction on unwitting possession RP 104-05; WPIC 52.01. Of course, the defendant may ask this Court to review the instructions for the first time on appeal under RAP 2.5(a). However, it would not be fair to the State or the trial court to reverse the case on an issue the defendant did not raise previously.

In this case, whether the State had the burden of proving the defendant knew the methamphetamine was in his possession or the defendant had the burden of proving unwitting possession would not matter. The defendant admitted he had a pen, knowing it was used for sniffing drugs. His explanation how and why he came to possess the pen was inconsistent. RP at 79-80, 88-89. None of his versions made sense. Any error is harmless.

- D. State's Response to Defendant's Argument Number Four: "The court penalized Mr. Matheny for exercising his right to trial in denying his request for a DOSA."
 - 1. The standard on review for failure to grant a DOSA is whether the trial court abused its discretion by refusing categorically to impose it under any circumstances.

State v. Grayson held that a trial judge's decision whether to grant a DOSA is not generally reviewable. State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 342, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005). However, the trial court must consider a request for a DOSA. In this case, there was no categorical refusal to consider a DOSA. The trial court did not abuse its discretion.

2. The trial court appropriately considered a DOSA sentence and determined it was not appropriate for the defendant.

The trial court pointed out that the defendant was not ready for treatment. RP at 162. The defendant at sentencing never stated he had a drug problem or ever admitted an addiction for methamphetamine. RP at

162-63. His only comment was that he wanted "the chance to get some rehab and do a little bit of that." RP at 161-62. His main focus was on his employment: "I miss working. I miss my job as a hotshot with the forest service, and I think rehab would help me with that. I ask Your Honor to please give me that chance." RP at 162.

The trial judge knew that at trial the defendant did not claim he had any drug problem and portrayed himself as a Good Samaritan who was trying to prevent children from being exposed to potentially hazardous substances. RP at 162. The trial judge concluded that the defendant was not ready for treatment. *Id*.

The trial judge considered the defendant's request for DOSA and appropriately denied it.

III. CONCLUSION

Concerning the evidentiary issue of admitting the Viagra powder secreted by the defendant in the patrol car, it is circumstantial evidence that the defendant knew he was in possession of a controlled substance and was willing to go to extreme measures to hide the fact. The defendant has not established that the trial court abused its discretion.

Regarding the LFOs, the defendant repeatedly told the trial court that he was employed as a fire jumper. RP at 85, 158, 162. The trial court did not need to inquire further.

Regarding the unwitting possession instruction, the defendant did not object to the instruction. RP at 97. There is no reason to overturn over two decades of case law and ignore legislative history to begin requiring the State to prove knowledge of possession. The defendant has not shown that the case law interpreting the statute for over two decades has been incorrect and harmful.

Regarding the DOSA, the trial court made a good record on the reasons the defendant was not ready for treatment. The defendant himself said virtually nothing about needing treatment.

The conviction and sentence should be affirmed.